NO. 47693-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

PAUL A. GILMORE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

1. The trial court denied the defendant his right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, when it entered judgements on four counts of viewing depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct because substantial evidence does not support these convictions.

2. Trial counsel's failure to object when (1) the state called upon a witness to give her opinion on the credibility of witnesses and her opinion that the defendant was guilty and then argued from that evidence in closing, (2) when the state introduced irrelevant, prejudicial evidence, and (3) when the state called upon a police officer to give an opinion on a point for which he was not an expert denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

3. The trial court abused its discretion when it refused to allow the defendant to attend the trial in his navy uniform.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1

1. Does a trial court deny a defendant the right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, if it enters judgements on counts of viewing depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct when substantial evidence does not support these convictions?

2. Does a trial counsel's failure to object when (1) the state calls upon a witness to give her opinion on the credibility of witnesses and her opinion that the defendant was guilty and then argues from that evidence in closing, (2) when the state introduces irrelevant, an opinion on a point for which he was not an expert deny that defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment when the trial court would have sustained timely objections to all three pieces of evidence and when the admission of this evidence undermines the court's confidence in the fairness of the jury's verdict?

3. Does a trial court abuse its discretion if it refuses to allow an active duty member of the navy to wear his uniform during trial when the state presents evidence to the jury from which it argues that the defendant was on active duty at the time of the offenses?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

For five years prior to November of 2014, the defendant Paul A. Gilmore lived in Kitsap county near Bremerton with his wife Candice, his step-daughter MB and his and Candice's son CG. RP 238-240, 513-514. Although the defendant and Candice had only been married for a few years, they had previously known each other and dated both during and after high school. RP 510-515, 562. Candice is the only child of Kathleen Brooks and her husband, who live in Carlton, Oregon, about four hours south of Bremerton. RP 213-214, MB was born on July 21, 2006, and turned eight-years-old in July of 2014. RP 238-240.

All during and prior to the time the defendant was married to Candice, he was an active member of the United States Navy and he was stationed at the Bangor Naval Base. RP 510-514. He is a submariner and is frequently away on duty. 511-512. Prior to November of 2014 he was reassigned to a duty station in Guam. *Id.* Although MB was initially interested in moving to that location, by October of 2015 she had changed her mind and did not want to leave her school and friends. RP 363-365, 525-526.

Sometime prior to October of 2014 Kathleen Brooks texted her daughter Candice and told her that she was driving up to Bremerton so she could take MB out to dinner as she wanted to talk to her. RP 217-218.

According to Kathleen, her husband had told her that MB had mentioned to him that she had a secret that she didn't want to tell him. RP 214-216. Ms Brooks was worried that there might be a problem and she wanted to talk to MB. *Id.* Once she got to Bremerton she took MB out to dinner. RP 217-218. When she asked MB about her secret MB became upset so Ms Brooks dropped the matter for the time being. *Id.*

Later that evening while Ms Brooks and MB were watching a movie together Ms Brooks again asked what MB's secret was. RP 219-220. Although reluctant to talk, MB responded that her father had touched her when he was naked that he had her watch some videos on his laptop computer dealing with "Daddy's little girl." *Id.* The next day Ms Brooks told her daughter Candice what MB had said. RP 221-223, 244-247. Candice became upset and tried to log onto the defendant's computer. *Id.* When she was unsuccessful, they called MB into the room and asked if she could get onto her father's computer. *Id.* She responded by putting the password into the computer, starting a web browser, bringing up the website "google," and then typing the letters "da" into the scarch window. *Id.* When she did the "google" screen "auto-populated" to a pornographic site about "daddy's something" and then linked to that page. *Id.* When it did Candice saw pornographic images on the screen and immediately shut the computer. *Id.*

That evening Candice confronted the defendant with MB's claims BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 4

when he came off duty. RP 249-250, 529-530. He denied that he had ever inappropriately touched MB, that he had ever shown her pornographic videos or that he had ever looked at child pornography. Id. Ultimately, Candice consented to have her mother take MB to Oregon with her. RP 251. A few weeks after returning to Oregon Ms Brooks reported MB's claims to the police. RP 223-224. The Kitsap County Sheriff's office later took three actions in the case. RP 270-280, 262-263, 429-430, 443-446, 530-532, 540. First, they had MB interviewed. RP 270-280. During this interview MB made the same claims she had made to her grandmother. Id. Second, Sheriff's deputies executed a search warrant at the defendant's home and seized the defendant's computer and certain sex toys in Candice's night stand. RP 262-263, 429-430. They took this second action because MB had claimed that the defendant had touched her with them. Id. Third, they had the defendant detained as he came off duty and took him to the Sheriff's office where he submitted to a recorded interrogation. RP 443-446, 530-532, 540. Following the interrogation the police arrested the defendant and booked him into the Kitsap County jail. Id.

A later forensic examination of the defendant's computer did not reveal any images of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct. RP 499. However, it did reveal that someone using the web browsers on the computer had performed searches using such terms as "incest," "daddy" and **BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 5** "daughter". RP 400-402. That same evaluation also revealed that someone using the computer had visited Websites such as "Mom-Daughter-sex.com" and "DarkIncest.com." RP 406-414.

Procedural History

By information filed December 18, 2014, and later twice amended, the Kitsap County Prosecutor charged the defendant Paul A. Gilmore with one count of child molestation in the first degree, one count of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, and four counts viewing depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 1-7, 21-26, 109-114. The defendant was arraigned while in custody with a trial date set for February 9, 2015, with speedy trial running out on February 17, 2015. CP 8.

On February 6, 2015, three days before trial, the defendant's attorney moved to continue the trial because the crime lab had not finished its analysis on the defendant's computer and he was waiting for the transcription of witness interviews. RP 2/6/15 1-6. The court granted the motion over the defendant's objection and reset trial for February 17, 2015. *Id.* However, on that date the defendant's attorney moved for a second continuance citing the need to prepare to face new charges the state said it was going to file along with the need to review the forensics examination of the computer which was still not complete. RP 2/17/15 1-3. The court also granted this motion over

the defendant's objection and reset trial for March 16, 2015. RP 2/17/15 3-7.

On March 16, 2015, the defendant's attorney moved a third time for a continuance, explaining that he was waiting for his own expert's analysis on the computer and that he was not ready to defend against the added charges of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes and viewing depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, which the state had recently added to the information. RP 3/16/15 1-3. Although the state and the defendant both objected to another continuance the court granted the motion and reset the trial for February 4, 2015. RP 3/16/15 3-9.

At the beginning of trial on May 4th, the court held a joint hearing under CrR 3.5 and RCW 9A.44.120 to determine the admissibility of the defendant's statements to the police and the admissibility of MB's statements to her grandmother and to the police investigator who had performed the recorded interview with MB. RP 1-182. Following the presentation of witnesses and argument by counsel, the court held that the defendant's recorded statements to the police were admissible, as were MB's statements to her grandmother Kathleen Brooks and her recorded statements to Alexandra Mangahas, the police investigator. RP 170-182. The court later entered the following findings of fact and conclusions of law on the CrR 3.5 hearing:

FINDINGS OF FACT

I. That on November 19, 2014 Kitsap County Sheriff's Office (KCSO) Detectives Aaron Baker and Lori Blankenship interviewed the Defendant at the Naval Criminal Investigative Services (NCIS) office on the Bangor Naval base in Bremerton, Washington. This interview was audio and video-recorded, and the Defendant was advised of the same at the beginning of the recording.

II. That while the defendant was not placed in formal law enforcement custody, a reasonable person in his position would not have felt free to leave, and thus he was in custody. Dets. Baker and Blankenship"interrogated him as contemplated and defined under *Miranda*.

III. That Det. Baker read the Defendant his *Miranda* rights properly and completely. There was no deficiency in the reading of the *Miranda* rights.

IV. That based on the Defendant's behavior and responses after having been read *Miranda*, he displayed he understood his rights and was voluntarily waiving his rights. This is based on the fact that he immediately began responding to questioning without hesitation, and at the conclusion of the interview, he specifically said, "I'm done talking" and "I want a lawyer." By making those statements he indicated he understood the rights, and the fact that he could exercise the rights at any time.

V. That at the CrR 3.5 hearing the Defendant testified that he could not now remember whether he understood his rights at thetime of the interview. The Defendant's present memory is irrelevant to whether or not he understood his rights at the time of the interview. His responses were appropriate to the questions he was asked and tracked with the questions asked. Based on his responses, and his demeanor shown on the video of the interview, there is othing to suggest that he did not understand his rights or the questions he was being asked.

VI. That the Defendant testified he was tired at the time he was interviewed, and had been awake upwards of forty hours. He testified that fact may have had an affect on his ability to understand. At the end of the recorded interview the Defendant indicated he was tired.

He did not testify his fatigue did affect his ability to understand, and in light of the other evidence, his lack of memory of whether he understood at the time of the interview, and the possibility of him not understanding is not relevant to whether or not he actually did understand. The fact that the Defendant may have been tired does not negate his waiver of the fact that the statements were made knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. Based on the totality of the evidence, it appeared he understood the questions and his rights.

VII. That law enforcement made no threats or promises to the Defendant to induce him to talk or waive his rights, and there is no evidence to suggest that the Defendant did not waive his *Miranda* rights and make his statements to law enforcement knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. That the above-entitled Court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this action.

II. That the defendant was "in custody" and "interrogated" by law enforcement when interviewed on November 19, 2015 for purposes of *Miranda*.

III. That the Defendant's *Miranda* rights were properly and completely read.

IV. That the Defendant knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights, and knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily made his statements to law enforcement. As such, his statements are admissible.

CP 211-213.

The court also entered the following findings of fact and conclusions

of law on the RCW 9A.44.120 hearing:

FINDINGS OF FACT

I. That on May 5, 2015 the Court held a child hearsay hearing to

determine whether statements MLB (the "declarant" for the purposes of the child hearsay statute) made to her grandmother, Kathy Brooks, and the forensic child interviewer, Sasha Mangahas. MLB testified at the hearing as did Ms. Brooks and Ms. Mangahas.

II. That Ms. Mangahas interviewed MLB on November 19, 2014, while MLB was eight years old.

III. That in her testimony at the child hearsay hearing MLB was articulate and demonstrated the understanding of the need to speak the truth. She demonstrated the mental capacity at the time of the occurrence to receive an accurate impression about the matter to which she was testifying and she demonstrated sufficient memory to retain an independent recollection of the occurrences. She also demonstrated she had the capacity to understand and respond to simple questions about the occurrences.

IV. That at times MLB appeared shy, embarrassed or reluctant to answer, this Court does not confuse the reluctance to speak as an inability to receive an accurate impression or be able to relay an accurate impression. There were occasions when she claimed to not remember certain things, but based on her demeanor in court and in the forensic interview, with further questioning she did answer the questions.

V. That the questions asked by Ms. Mangahas in the interview and the State at the child hearsay hearing were open-ended, nonleading questions. The questions did not suggest a particular answer.