NO. 47693-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PAUL ALAN GILMORE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 14-1-01222-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON
Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

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

State v. Stover, 67 Wn.App. 228, 232, 834 P.2d 671 (1992). Given the issues in the case, it was not deficient performance to not object to the prosecutor's argument that directly confronted the defense theory.

2. ***Trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the admission of images of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct.***

Gilmore claims that trial counsel should have objected when the state offered exhibits 21-24. Brief at 29-32. These exhibits are not in the record on review³ but are described by Detective Baker as follows:

Exhibit 22, two photographs:

It's a female that appears to be under the age of 16.

³ The record reflects that these exhibits were ordered by Gilmore in a Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers dated December 14, 2015. A review of the trial court file indicates that Gilmore's counsel was advised that those exhibits had been ordered to be sealed and no motion to unseal is in the record.

She has -- she has darker brown hair. She's a white female. She's wearing a -- looks to be a gray sweatshirt. Her eyes are closed. She has her head kind of turned to the right.

RP 464

So she appears to be laying down. Her head and her upper body are on some kind of an object. I don't know if it is a pillow or a bed or something, but she appears to be laying down. Her eyes are closed, her head is off to the right. Her mouth is closed. It appears just a few fingertips are in -- the photo is cropped, meaning her head from about here down is visible, and from the corner of here is visible. Actually, here, her right side. Her left ear is visible. So it appears that her fingers -- the image is cropped up to about the top of her fingers so they are about in this position on her gray sweatshirt.

And then there's a white male holding an erect penis less than an inch away from her lips. And the left -- the male's left hand is holding the erect penis very close to her lips. Like I said, within an inch. And then again the image is cropped so as to only show about this much of the male's hand.

RP 465, and

Again, under the age of 16. Female, white female. She is not wearing any clothing on her upper body. She has darker brown hair. Her head is kind of positioned up and her eyes are closed. And then there are two erect penises in her face. The one on the right is of a male holding his erect penis in his left hand. There's semen on her face. And then the erect penis on her left looks like it is touching her cheek right about in this location.

Again the image is cropped, so it shows basically the female's -- the tops -- she appears to be squatting, so the image is looking down. It shows the top of her left thigh, her exposed breasts, her right shoulder. There's some text in the bottom of the image that reads --

RP 466. Exhibit 23 is described as including “many, many, many images.” RP 486. One is described as

The first one, again, is -- would be that Bing home page. The border around the cropped image is dark. There's a cropped image of a white male, doesn't have any clothing on. You can see basically from just above his belly button down; he's got some hair on his lower body. And there is a white female that appears to be under the age of 16 lying in between his legs holding on to his erect penis close to her face.

RP 486. And,

Two -- again, Bing screen shot image, dark screen, again with a number of smaller photos to the right. Cropped photo in the center of the screen with two white females, a white male that's cropped just above his genitals, erect penis in the mouth of one of the female's. And there's another female to the left that appears to be under the age of 16 with her tongue on his testicles.

RP 487. Exhibit 24, again describing two of many pictures

The first one is the same image as in the last exhibit of a white male straddling over a white female that appears to be under the age of 16. The second image is a different image, again, dark screen shot, many photos on the right-hand side. And on this image it is a cropped image of a white -- or a white male that appears to be standing over two white females. There is a white female in the rear of the younger female. The one in the rear appears to be 30 to 40 years old. She appears to have clothes on. She is kneeling behind a white female that appears to me to be approximately 6 to 8 years old, under 10. The image is cropped, so you can see basically the top of her shoulders. She is blindfolded. She has light blonde hair very thin and wispy. And the older female

behind the younger white female is holding her mouth open and the male has his erect penis inside of her mouth.

RP 489. Exhibit 21

On the left side of the screen there was four images, and then there's -- the right side is dark but there's text within boxes: "Taboo paradise," "dad and girl taboo," "forced family sex," "dad and girl videos." And then the third image down, though, is of a young Asian female, appears under the age of 16, lying on her back, dark hair, with an erect penis over her, slightly in her mouth.

RP 492. These, then, are the images that Gilmore claims were irrelevant in this prosecution for viewing depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct. Admissibility of evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Baldwin*, 109 Wn.App. 516, 37 P.3d 1220 (2001).

As noted by Gilmore, relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. "The threshold to admit relevant evidence is low; even minimally relevant evidence is admissible." *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Gregg Roofing*, 178 Wn.App. 702, 729, 315 P.3d 1143 (2013), *rev denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2014). Relevant evidence includes "facts which offer direct or circumstantial evidence of any element of a claim or defense." *State v. Weaville*, 162 Wn.App. 801, 818,

256 P.3d 426 (2011). Without doubt, pictures of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct that were the result of accessing web sites found on Gilmore's computer have a strong tendency to prove that Gilmore in fact "viewed" such depictions as charged. Certainly that is in part the import of RCW 9.68A.075 (3) discussed *supra*. Although the state cannot find the phrase "logical nexus" in the case cited by Gilmore, that case does assert that "[r]elevancy means a logical relation between evidence and the fact to be established." *State v. Whalon*, 1 Wn.App. 785, 791, 464 P.2d 730 (1970). Here the fact to be established was, again, that he viewed this material. What material? the jury may ask. The answer is the material admitted and much more not directly discussed from the witness stand. This evidence simply was relevant. It is at least unlikely that an objection to this relevant evidence would have been sustained.

Sadly, this type of evidence will always attend a prosecution of this sort. The state need not shrink from proving its case simply because the proof includes relatively disgusting images that the court and the jury would rather not have to see. Such is the case with gruesome pictures of a victim in a murder prosecution where the state must prove the manner of death. *See State v. Burkins*, 94 Wn.App. 677, 691, 973 P.2d 15 (1999), *rev denied* 138 Wn.2d 1014 (1999). Thus ER 403 provides that probative value must be "substantially outweighed" by the danger of unfair prejudice. Analysis under ER 403 begins with the finding that the

evidence is otherwise relevant (“although relevant”) and thus “evidence is presumed admissible under ER 403.” *Burkins* at 692. Further, crucial to the present case, “[w]ether evidence actually plays a part in a crime is not the definition of relevant evidence.” *Id.* at 693; *see also State v. Quigg*, 72 Wn.App. 828, 866 P.2d 655 (1994) (in child rape case, a story written by defendant having similarity with the acts done to the victim admitted though not proving element of crime).

The pictures admitted tend to establish the type of image viewed by the user of Gilmore’s computer and tend to prove Gilmore’s grooming of MB in that these or similar pictures were shown to MB; in short, they tend to prove his state of mind. *See State v. Luther*, 157 Wn.2d 63, 77, 134 P.3d 205 (2006) (even depictions arguably protected by the First Amendment (i.e., depictions of adults) may be probative of defendant’s state of mind regarding child pornography). More generally, in prosecutions involving child pornography, the evidence against the accused will always be of this nature and in such prosecutions will always have very high probative value just as it did in the present case. Here, the evidence was not gratuitous and the state limited its presentation to what amounts to samples of the thousands of images discovered on the web sites that were visited on Gilmore’s computer. There was no deficiency in failing to object to this highly probative evidence.

3. ***Detective Baker's opinion that the images he described appeared to be of women under the age of 16 was not improper opinion evidence.***

Gilmore claims that the admission of Detective Baker's testimony that the female images in the pictures appeared to be under the age of 16 constitutes improper opinion evidence and as such defense counsel should have objected to those opinions. The allegedly offending testimony is included *supra*. There was adequate foundation lain for this testimony.

The foundation was

Q. Okay. And let me ask you what experience you have with children? Do you have any experience with children?

A. I have three.

Q. Okay. And do they span an age?

A. Yes. My older -- sorry.

Q. That's fine.

Do you also have other experience with children?

A. Yes. I occasionally volunteer at my kids' -- my kids' classrooms. I also volunteer helping with their little league, coaching little league baseball.

Q. So do you have some experience with generally assessing kids' age?

A. Generally.

Q. Okay. And what do you mean by "generally"?

A. My oldest daughter, and I've watched her grow up until nearly 21 years old.

Q. So you've seen her go through stages?

A. Yes. And my two sons, I've watched them grow up until 7 and 11 years old.

Q. So is it safe to say you can't say, you know, that person right there is 11 years old, if you don't know them?

A. Correct.

Q. But could you -- do you feel comfortable just based on your experience giving a general age?

A. Yes.

RP 463-64. Notably, Detective Baker claimed no scientific education or specialized training in age identification. He merely said that he could put a general age on the images being discussed based on his experience with children.

Such evidentiary rulings are normally reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. McPherson*, 111 Wn.App. 747, 761, 46 P.3d 284 (2002). Moreover, “[w]hen the question pertains to expert opinion evidence, the trial court does not abuse its discretion if the ruling is fairly debatable.” *Id.*; *citing Fraser v. Beutel*, 56 Wn.App. 725, 734, 785 P.2d 470 (1990). But of course the trial court could not exercise its discretion on the present issue because there was no objection. Here also, Gilmore’s failure to include the actual images in the record diminishes argument on the point. *See State v. Wade*, 138 Wn.2d 460, 465, 979 P.2d 850 (1999) (“An appellate court may decline to address a claimed error when faced with a material omission in the record.”). This Court cannot look for itself and consider the reasonableness of the opinions. *See State v. Luther*, 157 Wn.2d 63, 81, 134 P.3d 205 (2006) (“courts acting as triers of fact often rely on visual observations to determine whether an individual depicted is a minor.”) *citing U.S. v. Riccardi*, 405 F.3d 852, 870 (10th Cir.) (while expert testimony may be necessary in some cases to establish that a person depicted is a minor, this judgment is made on a case-by-case basis, and in some cases the trier of fact may determine beyond a reasonable doubt

whether the person depicted is a minor without the assistance of an expert), *cert. denied*, 546 U.S. 919, 126 S.Ct. 299, 163 L.Ed.2d 260 (2005).

The jury retains the sole authority to determine the credibility and persuasiveness of the evidence presented. ER 701 allows admission of lay opinions, it provides

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, his testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness and (b) helpful to a clear understanding of his testimony or the determination of a fact in issue.

“Lay witnesses also may now give opinions or inferences based upon rational perceptions that help the jury understand the witness’s testimony and that are not based upon scientific or specialized knowledge” under ER 701. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Further, under ER 704, an opinion is not inadmissible simply because it embraces an ultimate issue in the case. Thus, “[t]he mere fact that an expert opinion covers an issue that the jury has to pass upon does not call for automatic exclusion.” *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 590; *see also Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), *rev. denied*, 123 Wn.2d 1011 (1994).

In *State v. Ortiz*, 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060, the Supreme Court considered a challenge to the opinions of a tracker employed by the United States Border Patrol. *Id.* at 297. He testified that the track he

followed allowed him to determine the size and weight of the individual as well as the person's familiarity with the land traversed and the person's relative age and ethnicity. *Id.* Ortiz argued that these were neither proper lay opinions, nor proper expert opinions. The court cited ER 701 and added

Under Rule 701 and Rule 602, the witness must have personal knowledge of matter that forms the basis of testimony of opinion; the testimony must be based rationally upon the perception of the witness; and of course, the opinion must be helpful to the jury (the principal test).

Id. at 308-09 (page break omitted) *citing* E. Cleary, *McCormick on Evidence* 29 (3d ed. 1984).

Applying these rules, the *Ortiz* Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the tracker's testimony as a lay opinion. *Id.* at 309. The witness had laid out how he had learned his craft and his experience doing the job. On the "principle test," the Court found that the evidence was helpful to the trier of fact. *Id.* Similarly in the present case, Detective Baker was able to give a lay opinion about the images he was viewing. Even though his testimony was likely not as useful as the tracker's testimony in *Ortiz*, Detective Baker had knowledge of the images and generally had knowledge from experience in identifying the age of children. His testimony was rationally based on experience with children and his perception of the children depicted. And, finally, his testimony was helpful in explaining his testimony about child

pornography, which of course constituted a fact in issue in the case. There would have been no abuse of discretion in admitting his opinions even had there had been an objection.

But the *Ortiz* Court was not done. It also affirmed the testimony as expert testimony. The crucial rule here is that “practical experience is sufficient to qualify a witness as an expert.” *Id.* at 310. The Court noted that the tracker’s testimony was based upon “his own practical experience and acquired knowledge.” *Id.* at 311. Detective Baker’s testimony had a similar foundation. And, “[m]oreover no particularized background knowledge would be necessary to an understanding of the evidence [the tracker] presented.” Thus the tracker’s evidence did not need to meet the test for the admissibility of novel scientific evidence. *Id.* (*Frye v. U.S.*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923)). The Supreme Court gave deference to the jury’s role noting that “the testimony was not so technical that a jury could not judge its reliability for itself.” *Id.* And, “[i]t was for the jury to decide what weight should be attached to [the tracker’s] testimony.” *Id.*

The same is true in the present case. Detective Baker’s testimony required no particularized background knowledge; his experience in raising his children suffices. Moreover, the evidence was not so technical that the jury could not decide for itself whether or not the opinions were reliable. *See Luther, supra* (triers of fact use visual observations in deciding age of person depicted). Detective Baker’s opinions were

expressly identified as generalizations based on child-rearing experience. The jury maintained its position as the sole judges of the credibility and weight of the evidence. Detective Baker's testimony was more consistent with common sense and direct observation of the facts than it was with special training or education. His opinions were subject to cross-examination. They included no comment on the defendant's guilt or credibility. It was not deficient performance to not object.

Thus, on all three evidentiary issues raised by Gilmore in this ineffective assistance claim, analysis shows that objections would have been unavailing. Each piece was admissible. There is therefore no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. Gilmore's claim fails on the deficient performance prong and he cannot establish prejudice. His ineffective assistance claim fails.

C. THE TRIAL COURT RULING THAT GILMORE COULD NOT WEAR HIS MILITARY UNIFORM AT TRIAL WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

Gilmore next claims that the trial court abused its discretion by ruling that Gilmore could not wear his military uniform during trial. This claim is without merit because the issue was not preserved and because the trial court did not rule on untenable or unreasonable grounds.

First, the record is clear that Gilmore did not preserve this issue; he

conceded the point and lodged no objection. When the state raised the issue in motions in limine, the following discussion occurred between the trial court and defense counsel:

Well, Your Honor, I'm familiar with this motion in limine. I've researched the issue. I would agree with -- there is a finding that basically in a civilian trial there is no right for the defendant to wear a military uniform. Mr. Gilmore is in the military. I'm not sure that he is still in. I think, officially, he's not been terminated from the military. From talking to his family this morning, his intention was to wear a Navy uniform during the trial. So I would say that Mr. Gilmore -- he would prefer to wear the uniform.

THE COURT: So are you familiar with the case of State v. Gregory which is cited in the motion

MR. KIBBE: I am aware of that case and another case more recently that I read this morning.

THE COURT: So do you -- I mean, do you have any legal argument that would support your position for your client to wear a uniform?

MR. KIBBE: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So without any legal authority presented, I'm granting the State's request. So there will not be a wearing of military uniform in the trial.

IRP 7-8. Gilmore did not object to the ruling and conceded that there was no legal argument against the state's position. Under RAP 2.5(a), the issue does not implicate the trial court's jurisdiction, the sufficiency of the evidence, or a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. The issue was not preserved for appeal. *See State v. Roberts*, 73 Wn.App. 141, 145, 867 P.2d 697 (appellate court will consider only the specific objection raised below) *rev denied* 124 Wn.2d 1022 (1994).

Second, Gilmore asserts that the issue has not been addressed by the courts of this state. Brief at 37. The state respectfully disagrees. As early as 1971, this issue was discussed by the Washington Supreme Court in *State v. Gregory*, *infra*. There, the issue was addressed as follows

Finally, appellant urges that the trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to question him regarding prior acts of alleged misconduct. Specifically, the prosecutor, over appellant's objection, asked appellant if he was, at the time of trial, AWOL. Appellant responded in the affirmative.

Appellant contends that such question was directed to a prior, unrelated act of misconduct. He argues that the question was improper first because the alleged misconduct had not culminated in a conviction, and, additionally, because appellant had not placed his character in issue at trial.

The trial court, in allowing the question, determined that appellant had, in fact, placed his character in issue at trial. We agree. Appellant wore his military uniform throughout the trial, in addition to testifying at some length regarding his distinguished military career. Thus, the question was permissible as an attack upon appellant's character which the appellant, himself, had placed in issue.

State v. Gregory, 79 Wn.2d 637,646, 488 P.2d 757 (1971) (emphasis

added); *overruled on other grounds, State v. Rogers*, 83 Wn.2d 553, 520 P.2d 159 (1974). The case may not answer the present question but it does establish that the wearing of a military uniform constitutes a legal issue with regard to a defendant's character.

Under ER 404(a)(1), a criminal defendant may offer evidence of a 'pertinent trait of his character' to rebut the nature of the charged offense. '[A] pertinent character trait is one that tends to make the existence of any material fact more or less probable than it would be without evidence of that trait.'" *State v. Eakins*, 127 Wn.2d 490, 495–96, 902 P.2d 1236 (1995). The character trait must be relevant to the commission of the crime charged. ER 404(a). Through the use of character evidence, "the defendant generally seeks to have the jury conclude that one of such character would not have committed the crime charged." *City of Kennewick v. Day*, 142 Wn.2d 1, 5, 11 P.3d 304 (2000) (*quoting State v. Kelly*, 102 Wn.2d 188, 195, 685 P.2d 564 (1984)).

Gilmore cites *Johnson v. Commonwealth of Virginia*, 19 Va.App. 163, 449 S.E.2d 819 (1994), and correctly argues that that court disapproved of a trial court order disallowing the defendant from wearing his military uniform. But that court concluded that the ruling was harmless, the verdict would have been the same, saying "Just as appearing in uniform would have worked Johnson no advantage, appearing in

civilian dress worked him no disadvantage.” Id. at 166.

Gilmore was properly prohibited from wearing his military uniform. Here, his military service was not a “pertinent trait of character” with respect to the charges. He expects that such clothing would provide him with essentially un-rebuttable good character evidence, bolstering his credibility. He says as much in arguing that this ruling caused prejudice. Brief at 38. Disallowing this advantage, even if illusory as the court in Virginia found, was not untenable or manifestly unreasonable.

The issue should not be addressed because not preserved. If addressed, no abuse of discretion should be found. If abuse is found, Gilmore fails to establish substantial prejudice from this non-constitutional claim. The trial court should be affirmed.


IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Gilmore’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.